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UNITED STATES _
NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20555-0001

IMPORTANT NOTICE: REVISED NRC ENFORCEMENT POLICY (NUREG-1600)

On June 30, 1995, the Commission published a revised Enforcement Policy in the Federal
Register (60 FR 34381) that became effective on that date. The Commission also announced
that the Enforcement Policy was being removed from the Code of Federal Regulations where
it has tradmonally resided as Appendix C to 10 CER Part 2 (60 FR 34380; June 30, 1995).
The Policy is being published as NUREG-1600, "General Statement of Pohcy and Procedure
for NRC Enforcement Actions," to provide wxdespread dissemination.

This Policy applies to all NRC licensees, vendors, contractors, and their employees involved
in NRC licensed activities. The revised Enforcement Policy is intended to:

Emphasize the importance of licensees identifying violations before events occur or
before NRC identification,

Direct more NRC attention against licensees with multiple significant violations in a
relatively short time period,

Place more emphasis on current performance,

Provide that licensees who lose radioactive sources and do not identify and report the
loss to the NRC will normally be subject to a civil penalty at least in the order of the
cost for an authorized disposal or transfer to an authorized recipient,

Provide that enforcement actions only be issued for violations of more than minor
significance,

Continue a trial program of conducting approximately 25 percent of predecisional -
enforcement conferences open for public observation, and

Utilize discretion to ensure that NRC sanctions provide the appropriate regulatory
message.

. It should be noted that this is a policy statement and not a regulation. The Commission may
deviate from this statement of policy and procedure as appropriate under the circumstances of
a particular case.

James Lieberman, Director
Office of Enforcement

Enclosure: NUREG-1600
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Abstract

This document includes the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission’s
(NRC’s or Commission’s) revised General Statement of Policy and
Procedure for Enforcement Actions (Enforcement Policy) as it was
published in the Federal Register on June 30, 1995 (60 FR 34381)...
This document also includes the notice announcing the removal of the
Enforcement Policy from the Code of Federal Regulations
(60 FR 34380; June 30, 1995). The Enforcement Policy is a general
statement of policy explaining the NRC’s policies and procedures in
initiating enforcement actions, and of the presiding officers and
the Commission in reviewing these actions. 'This policy statement is
applicable to enforcement in matters involving the.radiological
health and safety of the public, including employees’ health and
safety, the common defense and security, and the environment. This
statement of general policy and procedure is published as NUREG-1600
to provide widespread dissemination of the Commission’s Enforcement
Policy. However, this is a policy statement and not a regulation:
The Commission may deviate from this statement of policy and
procedure as appropriate under the circumstances of a particular

_case.

Questions concerning the Enforcement Policy should be directed to
the NRC’s Office of Enforcement at 301-415-2741.
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NUCLEAR REGULATORY As reflected in the severity lovals, safety (2) To encourage prompt
COMMISSION significance includes actual safety identification and prompt,

Revision of the NRC Enforcement
Policy

AGENCY: Nuclear Regulatory
Commission.
ACTION: Policy statement.

SUMMARY: As a result of an assessment
of the Nuclear Regulatory Commission’s
(NRC) enforcement program, tha NRC
has revised its General Statemént of |
Policy and Procedure for Enforcement
Actions (Enforcement Policy or Policy).
Bya s%parate action published today in
the Federal Register, the Commission is
removing the Enforcement Policy from
the Code of Federal Regulations. ,
DATES: This action is offective on June
30, 1995, while comments are being
received. Submit comments on or before
August 14, 1995, Additionally, the
Commission intends to provide an
opportunity for public comments after
this revised Enforcement Policy has
been in effect for about 18 months.
ADDRESSES? Send written comments to:
‘The Secretary of the Commission, U.S.
Nuclear Regulatory Commission, )
Washington, DC 20555. ATTN:
Docketing and Service Branch. Hand
doliver comments to: 11655 Rackville
Pike, Rockville, Maryland, between 7:45
am and 4:15 pm, Federal workdays.
Copies of comments received may be
examined at the NRC Public Document
Room, 2120 L Street, NW. (Lower
Level), Washington, DC.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT:
James Lieberman, Director, Office of
Enforcement, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory,
Commission, Washington, DC 205585,
(301) 415-2741.

. SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: On May
13, 1994, tho NRC's Executive Director
for Operations established a review
team to assoss the NRC enforcement
program. In its report (NUREG-1525,!
“Assossmont of the NRC Enforcoment
Program,” April 5, 1995), tho review
team concluded that the existing NRC
enforcement program, as implemented,
is appropriately directed toward
supporting the agency's overall safety
mission. This concluston is reflected in
several aspects of the program:

« Tho Policy recognizes that violations
have differing dogrees of safety significance.

s Coples of NUREG-152% may be purchased from
the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government
Printing Office, Mail Stop SSOP, Washington, DC
20402-9328. Coples aro also availabla from the
Natlonal Technical Information Setvico, 5285 Port
Royal Road, Springfleld, Virginia 22161. A copy s
also avatlable for inspection and copying for a {oe
in the NRC Public Document Room, 2120 L Streot,
NW. (Lower Level), Washington, BC 20555-0001,

consequence, potential safoty consequence,
and regulatory significance. The uso of
graduated sanctions from Notices of °
Violation to orders further reflects the

- varying serlousness of noncompliances,

 The enforcemont conference is an
important step in achieving a mutual
understanding of facts and fssues before
making significant enforcoment decisions,
Although these conferences take time and
cffort for both the NRC and licensees, they
gencrally contribute to botter deciston-
making, »

» Enforcement actions deliver regulatory
messages propotly focused on safety. Theso
messages emphasizo the need for licenscos to
identily and correct violations, to address the
root causes, and to be responsiva to Initial

-opportunities to identify and provent
Lviolatlons. »

[ Tyl
* The usoe of discretion and judgment
throughout the deliberative process
rocognizes that enforcement of NRC
requiroments’does not lend itself to
mechanistic treatmeont.

Howaever, the Review Team found that
the existing enforcement program at
times provided mixed regulatory
maessages to licensees, and room for
improvement existed in the
Enforcement Policy. The roview
suggested that the program’s focus
should be clarified to: .

¢ Emphasize the importance of identifying
problems before events occur, end of taking
prompt, comprehensive correctivo action
when problems are identified;

» Direct agency attention at licensees with
multiple enforcoment actions in a relatively
short poriod; and

» Focus on current performance of
licensces.

In addition, the review team found
that the process for assessing civil
penalties could be simplified to improve
tho predictability of decision-making
and obtain better consistency between
regions.

As a result of its raview, the review
team made several recommendations to
revise the NRC Enforcement Policy to
produce an enforcoment program with
clearer regulatory focus and more

‘predictability. The Commission is

issuing this policy statement after
considering those recommendations and
the bases for them in NUREG~1525.

The more significant changés to the
current Enforcement Policy are
described below:

L. Introduction and Purposo

This section has been modified to
emphasize that the purpose and
abjectives of the enforcement program
are focused on using enforcement
actions:

(1) As a deterrent to emphasize the
importance of compliance with
requirements; and

comprehensive correction of violations.
1V. Saverity of Violations

Saverity Level V violations have been
eliminated. The examples at that level
have been withdrawn from the
supplements. Formal énforcement
actions will now only be taken for
violations categorized at Severity Level
Ito IV to better focus the inspection and
enforcement process on safety. To the
extent that minor violations are
described in an fnspection report, they
will be labeled as Non-Cited Violations
(NCVs). When a licensee does not take
corrective action or repeatedly or
willfully commits a minor violation
such that a formal response would be
needed, the violation should be
fatogorlzed at least at a Severity Level

The NRC staff will be reviewing tho
soverity lavel examples in the
supplements over the next 6 months.
The purpose of this review is to ensure
the examples are appropriately focused
on safoty significance, including
consideration of actual safety
consequence, potential safety
consequence, and regulatory

significance.

V. Predecisional Enforcement
Confercnces .

Enforcement conferences are being
renamed “predecisional enforcement
conforences.” These conferences should
be held for the purpose of obtaining
information to assist NRC in making
enforcement decisions when the agency
reasonably expects that escalated
enforcement actions will result. They
should also normally be held if
requosted by a licenses. In addition they
should normally be held before issuing
an arder or a civil penalty to an
unlicensed individual.

In light of the changos to the
Enforcement Policy, the Commission
has decided to continue a trial program
of conducting approximately 25 percent
of oligible conferences o;;‘en to public
observation pending further evaluation.
(See 57 FR 30762; July 10, 1992, and 59
FR 36796; July 19, 1994). The intent'of
open conferences is not to maximize
public altendance, but is rather for
determining whether providing the
public with an opportunity to observe
the regulatory process is compatible
with the NRC's ability to exercise its
rogulatory and safety responsibilities.
The provisions of the trial program have
boon incorporated into the Enforcement
Policy.
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should be used to assist in the decision

-on whother enforcement action should

be tekon against an unlicensed
individual as well as the licensee. The
Policy currently uses these factors to
determinoe whether to take enforcement
action agafnst an unlicensed person
rather than the licensee. These changes
are consistent with the intont of the
Commission in promulgating the ritle on
deliberate misconduct (56 FR 40864,
408686, August 15,'1991), Less .
significant cases may be treatéd as an
NCV under Section VILB.1. A Lottér of
Roprimand is not a sanction and is now
roferred to as an admjinistrative action
consistont with Section VLD of the
Policy.© - v

The Commission expects that the
changes to'the Enforcement Policy-
should result in an increase in the
protection 6f the public health and
safety by botter emphasizing the
provention, detection, and correction of
violations before events occur with
fmpact on the public. In about 2 years
the Commission intends to review the

. Enforcoment Policy. In that regard, it is

oxpected that in about 18 months an
opportunity will be provided to receive
public comments on the .
implementation of this Policy.

Genoral Statemont of Policy and
Pracedure for NRC Enforcement
Actions

Tablo of Contents
Proface

L Introduction and Purpose
IL. Statutory Authority
A. Statutory Authbrity
B. Procedural Framework
HII. Responsibilitios
1V. Severity of Violations
A. Aggrogation of Violatlons
B, Repetitive Violations
C. Willful Violations
D. Violations of Reporting Requiremonts
V. Predecisional Enforcemont Conforoncas
VI. Enforcoment Actions
A. Notlco of Violation
B. Civil Penalty
1. Baso Civil Penalty
2. Civil Ponalty Assossmont
a. Initial Escalated Action
b. Credit for Actions Rolated to
Identification
¢. Crod!t for Prompt and Comprohonsive
Corroctive Action
d. Exerciso of Discrotion
C. Orders
D. Rolated Adminlstrative Actions
Vi, Exorclso of Discrotion
, A. Bscalation of Enforcemont Sanctions
1. Civil Penalties
2, Orders
3. Daily Civil Panalties
B, Mitigation of Enforcoment Sanctions
1. Liconseo-Idontifiod Severity Level 1V
Violations
2. Violatlons Identified During Extended
Shutdowns or Work Stoppages

3. Violatlons Involle;sold‘noslgn Issucs
4. Violations Idontlfied Due to Previous
Escalated Enforcoment Action™. | .

S. Violations Involving Discrimination
6. Violations Involving Speclal
Circumstances -
C. Exerclsa of Discrotion for an Operating
Facility
VIiL Enforcomant Actlons Involving
Joudividuals
IX. Inaccurate and Incomplote Information
X. Enforcoment Action Against Non-
Licensees e
XI. Reforrals to the Department of Justice
XIL. Public Disclosure of Bnforcement
Actlons AR ’
‘XIIL Reopentng Closed Bnforcomont Actions
Supplements . Y

o
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Preface ' B

The following statement of general
policy and procedure explains the .
enforcoment policy and procedures of
tho U.S. Nuclear Regulatory -
Commission (NRC or Commission) and
the NRC staff (staff) in initiating
enforcomeont actions, and of the
presiding officers and the Commission
in reviewing these actions, This
statement {s applicable to enforcement
in matters involving the rad{ological
health and safety of the public,
including employeos* health and safety,
the common defense and security, an
the environment.! This statement of
general policy and procodure will be
published as NUREG-1600 to provide
widespread dissemination of the
Commission’s Enforcement Policy.
However, this is a policy statoment and
not ategulation, The Commission may
deviato from this statement of policy
and proceduro a8 appropriate under the
circumstances of a particular case.

L Introduction and Purposc

The purpose of the NRC enforcoment
program is to support the NRC's overall
safety mission in protecting the public
and the environment. Conslstent with
that purpose, enforcement action should
be used:

¢ Asa deterrent to emphasize the
importance of compllance with
requirements, and ‘

¢ To encourago prompt identification
and prompt, comprehensive correction
of violations,

Consistont with the purpose of this
program, prompt and vigorous
enforcement action will be takon whon
dealing with licensees, vendors,2
contractors, and thoir employees, who
do not achieve the nacessary moticulous
attention to detafl and the high standard

! Antitrust enforcomont matters will bo dealt
with on a cass-by-case basis,

2The term “veridor™ as used In this policy means
a suppller of Jxoducu or services to boused Inan
NRC-licensad facility or ectivity.

of complianco which the NRC expacts.?
Each enforcement dction is dependent
on the circumstances of the case and
requires the exercise of discrotion after
consideration of these policies and
Froceduros. In no case, howaver, will

icensees who cannot achiave and
maintain adequate levels of protection
be permitted to conduct liconsed
acttvities,

IL Statutory Authority and Procodural
Framework & .

A, Statutory Authority

The NRC's enforcement jurisdiction is

drawn from the Atomic Enorgy Act of
1954, as amended, and the Energy
Roorganization Act (ERA) of 1974, as
amended, . - . v

Section 161 of the Atomic Energy Act
authorizes the NRC to conduct
inspections and invostigations and to
issue orders as may be necessary or
degirable to promote the common
defense and security or to protect health
ar to minimize danger to life or
property. Section 186 authorizes the
NRC to xovoke licenses undor certain
circumstances (e.g., for material false
statements, in response to conditions
that would have warranted refusal of a
{icenso on an or!ginaluxiﬁ)lication. fora
licensee's failure to build or operate a
facility in accordance with the torms of
the permit or licenss, and for violation
of an NRC regulation). Section 234
authorizes the NRC to impose civil
penalties not to excoed $100,000 per
violation per day for the violation of
cortain specified licensing provistons of
the Act, rulos, orders, and licenso terms
im;;lementing these Rrovislons, and for
violations for which licenses can be
rovoked. In addition to the enumerated
provisions in sectfon 234, soctions 84
and 147 authorize the imposition of
civil penaltios for violations of
rogulations implementing those
provisions. Section 232 authorizes the
NRC to seek injunctive or other
equitable relief for violation of,
re?lntory requirements,

ection 206 of the Ene

Reorganization Act authorizes the NRC
to impose civil penalties for knowing .
and conscious failures to provide
cortain safety information to the NRC.

Chapter 18 of the Atomic Energy Act
provides for varying levels of criminal

>This policy primarily eddresses tho activities of
NRC liconsees and applicants for NRC liconses.
Therefore, the term “licensea” Is used throughout
the polfcy. However, in thoso casss where the NRC
dotormines that it Is appropriate to take
onforcoment action agalnst a non-licenseo or

{ndividual, the guldanca In this policy will be usod,

as applicable, Spectlic gutdance rogarding
enforcement action against individuals and non.
licensoos is addressed In Sections VIl end X,
rospoctively, .

NUREG-1600
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IV. Severity of Violations -

_Regulatory requiroments s have
varying degreos of safety, safeguards, or
onvironmental significance. Therefore,
the relative importance of each
violation, including both the technical-
significance and the regulatory
significance is evaluated as the first step
in the enforcement process.

Consequently, for purposes of formal
enforcement action, violations are
normally categorized in terms of four
levels of severity to show their relative
importance within each of the following
eight activity areas:

1. Reactor Operations;
11, Facility Construction;
11L. Safeguards; *

" V. Health Physlcs;

V. Transportatior;

VI. Fuol Cycle and Materials Operations;
VII. Miscellancous Matters; and -

VIII. Emergency Proparednoss.

Liconsed activities will be placed in
the activity area most suitablo in light of
the particular violation involved
including activities not directly covered
by ons of the abova listed areas, e.g.,
export license activities. Within each
activity area, Severity Level 1 has been
assigned to violations that are the most
significant and Severity Level IV
violations are the least significant.
Severity Level I and II violations are of
very significant rogulatory concemn. In
general, violations'that are included in
these severity categories involve actual
or high potential impact on the public.
Severity Laevel IIl violations are cause
for significant rogulatory, concern.
Severity Level 1V violations are less
serious but are of more than misfor
concern; i.e., if left uncorrected, they
could lead to a more serious concorn.

The Commission recognizes that there
are other violations of minor safety or
environmental concern which are below
the lavel of significance of Severity
Levol IV violations, Those minor
violations are not the subject of formal
enforcemont action and are not usually
described in inspection reports. To the
extont such violations are described,
thca')are noted as Non-Cited Violations.6

mparisons of significance between
activity areas are inappropriate. For
example, tho immediacy of any hazard
to the public associated with Severity
Level I violations in Reactor Operations
is not directly comparable to that  *
associated with Severity Level I
violations in Facility Construction.

3The term "“requirement as used in this policy
moans a legally blading requitement such as a
statute, regulation, license condition, technical
specificatlon, or order,

& A Non-Cited Violation (NCV) s a violation that
has not beon formalizad Into & 10 CFR 2.201 Notice
of Violation.

Supplemerits I through VIH provide
examplos dnd serve as guidance in
determining the appropriate severity
level for violations in each of the eight
activity areas. However, the examples
are neither exhaustive nor control?ing.
In addition, these examples do not
create new requirements, Each is
designed to illustrate the significance
that the NRC placss on a particular typo
of violation of NRC requirements, Eac
of the examples ih the supplements is ,
predicated on a violation of a regulatory
requirement.

‘The NRC reviews each case being
considered for enforcement ection on its
own merits to ensure that the severity of
a violation is characterized at the level
best suited to the significance of the
particular violation. In some cases,
special circumstances may warrant an
adjustment to the soverity level
categorization.

A. Aggregation of Violations

A group of Severity Level IV
violations may be evaluated in the
aggregate and assigned a single,
increased severity level, thoreby
resulting in a Severity Level Il problom,
if the viclations have the same
underlying cause or programmatic
deficiencies, or the violations,
contributed to or were unavoidable
consequences of the underlying
problem. Normally, Sevarity Level Il
and Il violations are not aggregated into
a higher severity level.

The purpose of aggregating violations
is to focus the licensee's attention on the
fundamental underlying causes for
which enforcement action appears
warranted and to reflect the fact that
several violations with 8 common cause
may be more significant collectively
than individually and may therefore,
warrant a more substantial enforcement
action.

B. Repetitive Violations

The severity level of a Severity Level
IV violation may bo increased to
Severity Level I, if the viclation can be
considered a repetitive violation,” The
purpose of escalating the severity level
of a repetitive violation is to
acknowledge the added significance of
the situation based on the licensce’s
failure to implement effective correctiveo
action for the previous violation, Tho
decision to escalate the severity level of

TThe term “repetitive violation™ or “similar
violatlon™ as used in this policy statement means
a violation that reasonably could have beon *
prevented by a licensee's corrective actlon for a
previous violation normally occurting (1) within
the past 2 years of the Inspectlon at lssus, or (2) the
poriod within the last two Inspections, whichever
is longer.

a repetitivo violation will depend on the
circumstances, such as, but not limited
to, the number of times the violation has
occurred, the similarity of the violations
and their root causes, the adequacy of
previous corrective actions, the period
of timo between the violations, and the
significance of the viclations.

C. Willful Violations

= Willful violations are by definition of

Earﬁcular concern to the Commission
‘because its regulatory program is based
on licensees and their contractors,
employees, and agents acting with
integrity and communicating with
candor. Willful violations cannot be
tolerated by either the Commission or a
licensee. Licensees aro expected to take
significant remedial action in
responding to willful violations
commensurate with the circumstances
such that it demonstrates the
serionsness of the violation thereby
creating a deterrent effect within the
licensoe’s organization. Although
removal of the porson is not necessarily
required, substantial disciplinary action
fs expected.

Therofore, the soverity level of €
violation may be increased if the
circumstances surrounding the mafter
involve careless disregard of
requirements; deception, or other -
indicatlons of willtulness. The term
Mwillfulness' as used in this policy
embraces a spectrum of violations
ranging from deliberate intent to violate
or falsify to and including careless
disregard for requirements, Willfulness
does not include acts which do not rise
to the level of careless disregard, e.g.,

* inadvortent clerical errors in a

document submitted to the NRC. In
determining the specific severity level
of a violation involving willfulness,
consideration will be given to such
factors as the position and
responsibilities of the person involved
{n the violation (e.g., licenses official®
or non-supervisory employee), the
significance of any underlying violation,
the intent of the violator (i.e., careloss
disregard or deliberateness), and the
economic or other advantage, if any,
gained as a result of the violation. The
rolative weight given to each of these

%The termt *'licensea official” as used In this
policy statement means a flrst-line supervisor or
above, a licensed Individual, & radiation safety
officer, or an suthorized user of licensed material |
whaether ot not listed on & license. Notwithstanding |
an individual's job title, severity level - |
categorization for willful acts involving Individuals |
who can ba consldered licensee officials will
consider several factors, Including the position of
the individual relative to the licenseo’s
organizational structure and the Individual's
responsibllities eelative to the oversight of licensed
activities and to the use of licensed material.
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Persons attending open conferences will

be providod an opportunity to submit
written comments concerning the trial
program anonymously to the regional
offico. These comments will be
subsequently forwarded to the Director
of the Office of Enforcement for review
and constderation. -
When needed to protect the publi
health and safety or common defense
and security, escalated enforcement
action, such as the issuance of an .
immediately effective order, will be
taken before the conference. In these
cases, a conference may be held after the
ascalated enforcement action is taken.

VI. Enforcement Actions

This section describos the -
enforcement sanctions available to the
NRC and specifios the conditions under
which each may bo used. The basic

* enforcement sanctions are Notices of

Violation, civil penalties, and orders of
various types. As discussed further in
Section VLD, related administrative
actions such as Notices of
Nonconformance, Notices of Deviation,
Confirmatory Action Letters, Letters of
Reprimand, and Demands for
Information are used to supplement the
enforcement program. In selecting the
onforcement sanctions or administrative
actions, the NRC will consider
enforcemont actions taken by other
Federal or State regulatory bodies
having concurrent jurisdiction, such as
in transportation matters, Usually,
whenever a violation of NRC
requirements of more than a minor
concern is identified, enforcement
action is taken. Tho nature and extent of
the enforcement action is Intended to
reflact the seriousness of the violation
involved. For the vast majority of
violations, a Notice of Violation ora
Notice of Nonconformance is the normal
action.

A. Notice of Violation

A Notice of Violation is a written
notice selting forth one or more
violations of a legally binding
requiremont. Tha Notice of Violation
normally requires the recipient to

rovide a written statement describing

1) the reasons for the violation or, if
contested, the basis for disputing the
violation; (2) corrective steps that have
beon taken and the results achieved; (3)
correctivo steps that will be taken to
prevent recurrence; and (4) the date
when full compliance will be achieved.
The NRC may waive all or portions of
a written response to the extent relevant
informatfon has already been provided
to the NRC in writing or documented in
an NRC inspection report. The NRC may
require responsos to Notices of Violation

“to be under oath. Normally, responses

under oath will be required only in
connection with Saverity Level I, I, or
111 violations or orders, T

The NRC uses the Notice of Violation
as the usual method for formalizing the
existence of a violation, Issuance of a
Notice of Violation is normally the only
enforcement action taken, except in
cases where tho criteriarfor issuance of
civil penalties and orders, as set forth in
Sections VI.B end VI.C, respectively, are
mot. However, spocial circumstances
regardins the violation findings may
warrant discretion boing exercised such
that the NRC refrains {from {ssuing a
Notice of Violation. (See Section VILB,
“Mitigation of Enforcement Sanctions.")
In addition, licenseos are not ordinarily
cited for violations resulting from
matters not within their control, such as

- equipment failures that were not

avoidable by reasonable liconsee quality
assurance measures or management
controls. Generally, howover, licensees
are held responsible for the acts of their
employees, Accordingly, this policy
should not be construed to excuse
personnel errors.

B. Civil Penalty

A civil penalty is a monetary penalt
that may l[))o imposed for violati(?n of (‘f)
certain specified licensing provisions of
the Atomic Energy Act or
supplementary NRC rules or orders; (2)
any requirement for which a license
may be revoked; or (3) reporting
requirements under soction 206 of the
Energy Reorganization Act. Civil
penaltios are dosigned to doter future
violations both by the involved licensee
as well as by other licensess conducting
similar activities and to emphasize the
need for licensees to idontity violations
and take prompt comprehensive
corrective action.

Civil penalties aro considered for
Severity Level 1lI violations, In addition,
civil penalties will normally be assessed
for Severity Lovel I and If violations and
knowing end conscious violations of the
reporting requirements of section 206 of
the Energy Reorganization Act.

Civil penalties aro used to encourage
prompt identification and prompt and
comprehensive correction of violations,
to emphasize compliance in a manner
that deters future violations, and to
sarve to focus licensees’ attention on
violations of significant regulatory
concern.

Although mansgement involvement,
direct or indirect, in a violation may’
lead to an increase in the civil ponalty,
the lack of management involvement
may not be used to mitigatoe a civil

enalty. Allowing mitigation in the
atter case could encourage the lack of

.management involvément in liconsed

activities and a decrease in protection of
the public health and safety.

1. Base Civil Penalty

‘The NRC imposos different levels of
penalties for different severity level®
violations and different classes of
licensees, vendors, and other persons.
Tables 1A and 1B show the base civil
penalties for various reactor, fuel cycle,
materials, and vendor programs. (Civil
penalties issued to individuals are
determined on a case-by-case basis.) Tho
structure of these tables generally takes
into account the gravity of the violation
as a primary consideration and the
ability to pay as & secondary
consideration. Generally, operations
involving greater nuclear material
inventories and greater potential .
consequences to the public and licensee
employees receive higher civil
penalties. Regarding the secondary
factor of ability of various classes of
licensees to pay the civil penalties, itis
not the NRC's intention that the
economic impact of a ctvil penalty be so
sovere that it puts a licensee out of
business (orders, rather than civil
penalties, are used when the intent is to
suspend or terminate licensed activities)
or adversely affects a licensee’s abllity
to safely conduct licensed activities.
The deterrent effect of civil penalties is -
best sarved when the amounts of the
penalties take into account a licensee's
ability to pay. In determining the
amount of civil penalties for licensees
for whom the tables do not reflect.the
ability to pay or the gravity of the
violation, the NRC will considor as
necessary an increase or decrease on a
case-by-case basis. Normally, if a
licensee can demonstrate financial
hardship, the NRC will consider
payments over time, including interest,
rather than reducing the amount of the
civil penalty. However, whero a licensoo
claims financial hardship, the licenseo
will normally be required to address
why it has sufficient resources to safely
conduct Jicensed activities and pay
license and inspection fees.

2. Civil Penalty Assessment

In an effort to (1) emphasize the
importance of adherence to
requirements and (2) reinforce prompt
solf-identification of problems and root
causes and prompt and comprohenstve
correction of violations, the NRC |
reviews each proposed civil penalty on
its own merits and, after considering all
relevant circumstances, may adjust the
base civil penalties shown in Table 1A
and 1B for Severity Lovel 1, 11, and II1
violations as described below.
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identified, some licensee-idontified, or
where the NRC prompted the licenseo to
take action that resulted in the
identification of the violation), the
NRC's evaluation should normally
determine whether the licenseo could
reasonably have been expected to
identify the violation in the NRC's
absence. This determination should
consider, among othor things, the timing
of the NRC's discovery, the information
available to the licensee that caused the
NRC concern, the specificity of the
NRC's concern, the scope of the
liconsee’s efforts, the lovel of licenses
resources given to the investigation, and
whether the NRC's path of analysis hed
been dismissed or was being pursued in
parallel by the licenseo.

In some cases, the licensee may have
addressed the isolated symptoms of
each vidlation (and may have identified
the violations), but failed to recognize
the common root cause and taken thé
necessary comprehensive action. Where
this is true, the decision on whether to
give licenseo:credit for actions related to
Identification should focus on
identification of the problem requiring
corrective action (o.g., the programmatic
breakdown). As such, depending on the
chronology of the various violations, the
carliest of the individual violations
might be considered missed
o(;)portunities for tho licensee to have
identified the larger problem.

(v) Missed Opportunities to Identify.
Missed opportunities include prior
notifications or missed opportunities to
identify.or prevent-violations such as (1)
through normal surveillances, audits, or
quality assurance (QA) activities; (2)
through prior notice i.e., specific NRC or
industry notification; or (3) through
other reasonable indication of a
potential problem or violation, such as
observations of employces and
contractors, and failure to takeeffective
corroctive steps. It may include findings
of the NRC, the licensee, or industry
mado at other facilitios operated by the
licensce where it is reasonable to expect
the licensee to take action to identify or
prevent similar problems at the facility
subject to the enforcement action at
issuo. In assessing this factor,
consideration will be given to, amon,
other things, the opportunities available
to discover tho violation, the ease of
discovery, the similarity between the
violation and the notification, the
peoriod of time between when the
violation occurred and when the
notification was issued, the action taken
(or planned) by the licensee in response
to the notification, and the level of
management review that the notification
received (or should have roceived).

‘The evaluation of missed
opportunities should normally depend
on whether the information available to
the licensee should reasonably have
caused action that would have
prevented the vlolation. Missed
opportunities is normally not applied
where the licensee appropriately
reviewed the opportunity for
application to its activities and
reasonable action was either taken or
planned to be taken within a reasonable
time.

In some situations the missed
opportunity is a violation in itself. In
these cases, unless the missed
opportunity is a Severity Lovel Il
violation in itself, the missed
opportunity violation may be grouped
with the other violations into a single
Severity Lovel IIl “problem.” Howover,
if the missed opportunity is the onl
violation, then it should not normnﬁy be
counted twice (i.e., both as the violation
and as a missed opportunity— “doublo
counting”) unless the number of
opportunities missed was particularly
siglr}lﬁcant.

- The timing of the missed opportunity
should also be considered. While a rigid
time-frame is unnecessary, a 2-year

eriod should generally be considered

or consistency in implementation, as
the period reflecting relatively curront
periormance.

(3) When the NRC determinos that the
licensee should receive credit for
actions related to Identification, the
civil penalty assessment should
normally result in efther no civil
penalty or a base civil penalty, basod on
whether Corrective Action is judged to
be reasonably prompt and
comprehensive. When the licensoe is
not given credit for actions related to
Identification, the civil penalty
assessment should normally result in a
Notice of Violation with either a base
civil penalty or a base civil penalty
escalated by 160%, depending on the
quality of Corrective Action, because the
liconsee’s performance is clearly not
acceptablo,

c. Credit for prompt and
comprehensive corrective action. The
purpose of the Corrective Action factor
is to encourage licensees to (1) taka the
immediate actions noecessary upon
discovery of a violation that will restore
safety and compliance with the license,
regulation(s), or othor requirement(s);
and (2) develop and implement (in a
timely manner) the lasting actions that
will not only prevent recurrence of the
violation at issue, but will be
appropriately comprshensive, given the
significance and complexity of the
violation, to prevent occurrence of
violations with similar root causes.

Regardless of other circumstances
(e.g., past enforcement history,
identification), the licenseo’s corractivo
actions should always be evaluated as
part of the civil penalty assessment
process. As a refloction of the
importance given to this factor, an NRC
judgment that the licensee's correctivo
action has not been prompt and
comprehensive will always result in
Issuing at loast a base civil penalty.

In assessing this factor, consideration
will be given to the timeliness of the
corrective action (including the
Fromptness in developfng the schedule

or long term corroctive action), the
adequacy of the licensee’s root cause
analysis for the violation, and, given the
significance and complexity of the
issue, the comprehensiveness of the
corrective action (i.e., whother the
action §s focused narrowly to the
specific violation dr broadly to the
general arca of concern). Even in cases
when the NRC, at the time of the
enforcement conferoence, identifies
additional peripheral or minor
corroctive action still to be taken, the
licensee may be given credit in this area,
as long as the licensce’s actions
addressed the underlying root cause and
are considered sufficient to prevent
recurrence of the violation and similar
violations,

Normally, the judgment of the
adequacy of corrective actions will
hinge on whother the NRC had to take
action to focus the licensee’s evaluative
and corrective process in order to obtain
comprehensive corrective action. This
will normally be judged at the time of
the enforcement conference (e.g., by
outlining substantive additional areas
where corrective action is needed).
Earlier informal discussions between
the licensee'and NRC inspectors or
management may result in improved
corrective action, but should not
normally be a basis to deny credit for
Corrective Action, For cases in which
the licensee does not got crodit for
actions related to Identification bocauso
the NRC identified tho problem, tho
assessment of the licensee’s corrective
action should begin from the time when
the NRC put the liconsee on notice of
the problem. Notwithstanding eventual
good comprehensive corrective action, if
immediate corrective action was not
taken to restore safety and compliance
once the violation was identified,
corrective action would not be
considered prompt and comprehensive.

Corrective action for violations
involving discrimination should
normally only be considered
comprehensive if the licenseo takos
prompt, comprehensive correctivo
action that (1) addresses the broader

= mE LT . TR
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VIL Exercise of Discretion .

Notwithstanding the normal guidance
contained in this policy, as provided in
Section I, “Responsibilities,” the NRC
may choose to exercise discretion and
eithor escalate or mitigate enforcement
sanctions within the Commission’s
statutory authority to ensure that the
resulting enforcement action
appropriately reflects the level of NRG
concern regarding the violation at issue
and conveys the appropriate message to
the licenseo. :

A, Escalation of Enforcement Sanctions

The NRC considers violations
categorized at Severity Level 1, 11, or IlI
to be of significant regulatory concern.
1f the application of tho normal
guidance in this policy does not result
inan aprroprinto sanction, with the
approval of the appropriate Deputy
Executive Director and consultation
with the EDO and Commission, as
warranted, the NRC may apply its full
enforcement authority whero the action
. Is warranted. NRC action may include
(1) escalating civil penalties, (2) issuing
appropriato orders, and (3) assessing
civil penalties for continuing violations
on a per day basis, up to the statugo?
limit of $100,000 per violation, per day.

1. Civil penalties. Notwithstanding
the outcome of the normal civil penalty
assessment process addressed in Section
VLB, the NRC may exercise discretion
by either proposing a civil penalty
where application of the factors would
otherwise result in zero tpenalty orby
escalating the amount of the resulting
civil ponalty (i.e., base or twice the base
civil penalty) to ensure that the
proposed clvil penalty roflects the
significance of the circumstances and
conveys the npﬁroprinto regulatory
messago to the licensee. Consultation
with the Commission is required if the
deviation in the amount of the civil

enalty proposed under this discretion

m the amount of the civil penalty

assessed under the normal process is
more than two times the base civil
penalty shown in Tablos 1A and 1B.
Examples when this discretion should
be considered include, but are not
limited to the followir;‘g:

(a) Problems categorized at Severity
Lovel I orII; '

{b) Overexposures, or releases of
radiological material in excess of NRC
requiromeonts; .

¢) Situations involving particularly
poor licensee performance, or involving
willfulness; ’

(d) Situations when the licensee’s
previous enforcement history has been
particularly poor, or whon the current
violation is directly repetitive of an
earlier violation;

(e) Situations when the excessive':
duration of a problem has resulted in a
substantial increase in risk;

(f} Situations when the licengee mads

a consclous decisiontobein "~ -
noncompliance in order to obtain an
economic benefit; or .

(g) Cases involving the loss of a
source. In addition, unless tho'liconsoce
self-identifiés and reports the loss to the
NRC, these cases should normally result
in a civil penalty in an amount at least
in the order of the cost’of an authorized

. disposal of the material or of the transfer

of tho material to an authorized
recipient.

2. Orders. The NRC may, where
necessary or desirable, issues orders in
conjunction with or in lieu of civil
penalties to achieve or formalize ‘
corrective actlons and to deter further
recurrence of serious violations.

3. Daily civil (renalties. In orderto
recognize the added technical safoty
significance or regulatory significanco
for those cases whero a very strong
message is warranted for a significant
violation that continues fof more than
one day, the NRC may exerciso ’
discretion and assess a soparate
violation and attendant civil penalty up
to the statutory limit of $100,000 for
each day the violation continues. The
NRC may exercise this discrotion ifa
licensee was aware or cloarly should
bave been aware of a violation, or if the
licenseo had an opportunity to identify
and correct the violation but failed to do
s0. ‘

B. Mitigation of Enforcement Sanctions

The NRC may exercise discretion and
refrain from issuing a civil penalty and/

-or a Notice of Violation, if the outcome

of the normal process described in
Section VI.B does not resultin a
sanction consistent with an appropriate
regulatory message. In addition, oven if
the NRC exercises this discrotion, when
the liconses failed to make a required

-report to the NRC, a separate

enforcement action will normally be
issued for the licensee’s failure to make
a required report. The approval of the
Director, Office of Enforcoment, with
consultation with the appropriato
Deputy Executive Directot as warranted,
is raquired for exercising discrotion of
the type described in Section VII.B.1b
where a willful violation is involved,
and of the types described in Sections
VILB.2 through VILB.5, Commission
consultation is required for exerclsing
discretion of the type described in
Section VIL.B.2 and the approval of the
appropriate Doputy Executive Director
and Commission notification is required
for exercising the discretion of the type
described in Section VII.B.8. Examples

when discretion should be considered
for departing from the normal approach
in Section VI.B include but are not
limited to the following:

1. Licensee-Identified Severily Level
IV Violations. The NRC, with the
apﬁroval of the Regional Administrator
or his designee, may refrain from
issuing a Notice of Violation for a
Severity Level IV violation that is
documented in an inspection report (or
officlal field notes for some material |
cases) and described therein as a Non-
Cited Violation (NCV) provided that the
inspection report includes a.brief
description of the corrective action and
that the violation meets all of the
following criteria;

(a) It was identified by the licensee,
including identification through an
event;

(b) It was not a violation that could
reasonably be expected to have been
provented by the licensee’s corrective
action for a previous violation or a
previous licenses finding that occurred
within the past 2 years of the inspection
at issue, or the period within the last
two inspections, whichever is longer;

(c) It was or will be corrected within
a reasonable time, by specific corrective
action committed to by the licensee by
the end of the inspection, including
immediate corrective action and
comprehensive corrective action to
prevent recurrence;

(d) It was not a willful violation or if
it was a willful violation;

(1) The information concerning the
violation, if not required to be reported,
was promptly provided to appropriate
NRC personnel, such as a resident
ir}xlsp?ctor or regional sectign or branch

ief;:

(1) The violation involved the acts of
a low-level individual (and not a
licensee official as defined in Section

IV.C);

(i) Tho violation appears to be the
isolated action of the employee without
management involvement and the
violation was not caused by lack of
managoment oversight as evidenced by
either a history of isolated willful

. violations or a lack of adequate audits

or supervision of employees; and

(ivaigniﬁcam remedial action
commensurate with the circumstances
was taken by the licensee such that it
demonstrated the seriousness of the
violation to other employees and
contractors, thereby creating a deterrent
effect within the licensee's organization.
Although removal of the employee from
licensed activities is not necessarily
required, substantial disciplinary action
is expected. .

2, elolaﬁons Identified During
Extended Shutdowns or Work
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unnecessary plant transient or

performance of testing, inspection, or
system realignmont that is inappropriate
with the specific plant conditions, or
unnecessary delays in plant startup -
without a corresponding health and

- safety benefit. In these circumstances,

the NRC staff may chooso not to enforce
the applicable TS or other license
condition. This enforcement discretion,
designated as a Notice of Enforcement
Discretion (NOED), will only be
exercised if the NRC staff is clearly
satisfied that the action is consistent
with protecting the public health and
safety. A licensee seeking the issuance
of a NOED must provide a written
justification, or in circumstances where
¥ood cause is shown, oral justification
ollowed as soon as possible by written
justification, which documents the
safoty basis for the request and provides
whatever other information the NRC
staff deoms necessary in making a
decision on whother or not to issue a

NOED.

The appropriate Regional
Administrator, or his or her designeo,
may jssuo a NOED where the
noncompliance is temporary and
nonrecurrinf when an amendment is
not practical. The Director, Office of
Nuclear Reactor Regulation, or his or
her designee, may issue a NOED if the
expected noncompliance will occur
during the brief period of time it
requires the NRC staff to process an
emorgoncy or-exigent license
amendment under the provisions of 10
CFR 50.91(a)(5) or (6). The person
exercising enforcement discretion will
document the decision.

For an operating plant, this oxercise of
enforcemont discretion is intended to
minimize the potential safety
consequences of unnecessary plant
transionts with the accompanying
operational risks and impacts or to
eliminate testing, inspection, or system
realignment which is fnappropriate for
the particular plant conditions. For
plants in a shutdown condition,
excercising enforcement discretion is
intended to reduce shutdown risk by,
again, avaiding testing, inspection or
system realignment which is
inappropriate for the particular plant
conditions, in that, it does not %rovide
a safety benefit or may, in fact, be
detrimental to safety in the particular
plant condition. Exercising enforcement
discretion for Y]nms attempting to
startup is loss likely than exercising it
for an operating plant, as simply
delaying startup does not usually leave
the plant in a condition in which it
courd exporience undesirable transients.
In such cases, the Commission would
oxpect that discretion would be

exercised with respect to oquipment or
systoms only when it has at least
concluded that, notwithstanding the
conditions of the license: (1) The
equipment or system does not perform
a safety function in the mode in which
oporation is to occur; (2) the safety
function performed by the equipment or
system is of only marginal safety
benefit, provided romaining in the -
current mode increases the likelihood of
an unnecessary plant transient; or (3)
the TS or other license condition
requires a test, inspection or system
realignment that is inappropriate for the
garucular plant conditions, in that it
oes not provide a safety benefit, or
may, in fact, be detrimental to safety in
the garticular plant condition,

The decision to exerclse enforcement
discretion does not change the fact that
a violation will occur nor does it imply
that enforcemeont discretion is being
exercised for any violation that may
have led to the violation at issue. In

‘each case where tho'NRC staff has

choson to issue a NOED, enforcoment
action will normally be taken for the
root causes, to the extent violations
wero involved, that led to the
noncompliance for which enforcement
discretion was used. The enforcoment
action is intended to emphasizoe that
licensees should not rely on the NRC's
authority to exercise enforcement
discretion as a routine substitute for
compliance or for requesting a license
amendment,

Finally, it is expected that the NRC
staff will exerciso enforcomont
discretion in this area infrequontly.
Although a plant must shut down,
refueling aclivitios may be suspended,
or plant startup may be delayed, absont
the exercise of enforcoment discretion,
the NRC staff is under no obligation to
take such a step merely because it has
been requosted. The decision to forego
enforcemont {s discretionary. When -
snforcement discretion is to be
oxercised, it is to be exercised only if
the NRC staff is clearly satisfiod that
such action is warranted from a health
and safety perspective.

VI, Enforcement Actions Involving
Individuals

Enforcoment actions involving
individuals, including licensed
operators, are significant personnel
actions, which will be closely controlled
and judiciously applied. An
onforcoment action involving an
individual will normally be taken only
when the NRC Is satisfied that the
individual fully understood, or should
have understood, his or her
responsibility; knew, or should have

" known, the required actions; and

knowingly, or with careless disregard
(i.e., with more than mere nogligence)
failed to take required aétions which
have actual or potential safoty
significance, Most transgressions of
individuals at the level of Severity Level
Ill or IV violations will be handled by
citing only the facility licenseo.

More serious violations, including
those involving the integrity of an
individual (e.g., lying to the NRC)
concerning matters within the scope of
the individual's responsibilities, willbe -
considered for enforcomgnt action
against the individual as well as against
tho facility licensee. Action against the
individual, however, will not be taken
if the improper action by the individual
was caused by management failures, -
The following examples of situations
illustrate this concept:

e Inadvertent individual mistakes
resulting from inadequate training or
guidance provided by the facility

iconsee,

¢ Inadvertently missing an
insignificant procedural requirement
when the action is routine, fairly
uncomplicated, and there is no unusual
circumstance indicating that the
procedures should be roferred to and
followad step-by-stog. )

* Compliance with an express
direction of management, such as the
Shift Supervisor or Plant Manager,
resulted in a violation unless the
individial did not express his or her
concern or objection to the direction.

¢ Individual error directly resulting
from following the technical advice of
an expert unless the advice was clearly
unreasonable and the licensed
individual should have recognized it as
such,

* Violations resulting from
inadequate procedures unless tho
individual used a faulty procedure
knowing it was faulty and had not
attempted to got the procedure
corrected.

Listed below are examples of
situations which could result in
enforcement actions involving
individuals, licensed or unliconsed. If
the actions described in these examples
aro taken by a liconsed operator or taken
deliberately by an unlicensed
individual, enforcoment action may be
taken diroctly against the individual.
However, violations involving willful
conduct not amounting to deliborate
action by an unlicensed individual in
these situations may rosult in

. enforcement action against a licensee

that may impact an individual. The
situations include, but aro not limited
to, violations that involve:

~o Willfully causing a licensoo to be in
violation of NRC requirements.
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bo issued to require (1) The romoval of
. the person from all licensed activities

for a specified period of time or
indefinitely, (2) prior notice to the NRC
before utilizing the person in licensed
activities, or (3) the licensee to provide
notice of the issuance of such an order
to other persons involved in licensed
activities making reference inquiries. In
addition, orders to employers might
require retraining, additjonal oversight,

v

action may be taken for an
unintentionally incomplete or
inaccurate oral statement provided to-
the NRC by a licenses official or others
on behalf of a lcenses, if a record was
made of the oral information and
provided to the licensee thereby
permitting an opportunity to correct the
oral information, such as if a.transcript
of the communication or mesting
summary containing the error was made

or independent verification of activities . available to the licensee and was not

performed by the person, if the person
is to be involved in licensed activities.

IX. Inaccurate and Incomplete
Information

A violation of the regulations
involving submittal of incomplete and/
or inaccurate information, whether or
not considered a material falso
statement, can result in the full rangeof
enforcement sanctions. The labeling of a
communication failure as a materia
false statement will be made on a-case-
by-case basis and will be reserved for
ogregious violations. Violations
involving inaccurate’ or incomplete
information or the failure to provide
significant information identified by a
licensee normally will bo categorized
based on the guidancoe herein, in Section
IV, “Severity of Violations,” and in
Su'P};l)lement VIL

e Commission recognizes that oral
information may in some situations be
inherently less reliable than written
submittals because of the absence of an
opportunity for reflection and
management review, However, the
Commission must be able to rely on oral
communications from licensee officials
concerning significant information.

* Therefore, in determining whether to .

take enforcement action for an oral
statement, consideration may be given
to factors such as (1) The degreo of
knowledge that the communicator
should have had, regarding the matter,
in view of his or her position, training,
and experience; (2) the opportunity and
time available prior to the
communication to assure the accuracy.
or completeness of the information; (3)
the degree of intent or negligence, if
any, involved; (4) the formality of the
communication; (5) the reasonableness
of NRC reliance on the information; (5)
the importance of the information
which was wrong or not provided: and
{7) the reasonableness of the
explanation for not providing complete
and accurate information.

Absent at least careloss disrogard, an
incomplete or inaccurate unsworn oral
statement normally will not be subject
to enforcement action unless it involves
significant information provided by a
licensee official. However, enforcement

“subsequently corrected in a timely

manner.
When a licensee has corrected
inaccurate or incomplete information,

. the declision to issue a Notice of

Violation for'the initial inaccurate or :
incomplote information normally will

- be dependent on the circumstances,
-including the ease of detaction of the

error, tho timeliness of the correction,
whether the NRC or the licenseo
identified the problem with tho -
communication, and whether the NRC
relied on tho information prior to the
correction. Generally; if the matter was
promptly.identified and corrected by
the licensee prior.to reliance by the
NRC, or before the NRC raised a
question about the information, no
enforcement action will be taken for the
initial inaccurate or incomplete
information. On the othier hand, if the
misinformation is identified after the
NRC relies on it, or after sdme quostion
is raised regarding the accuracy of the
information, then some enforcemont
action normally will be taken even if it
is in fact corrected. However, if the
fnitial submittal was accurate whon
made but later turns out to be erroneous
because of newly discovered
information or advance in technology,. a
citation normally would not be
appropriate if, when the new
intormation became available or the
advancement in technology was mado,
the initial submittal was correctoed.

The failure t6 correct inaccurate or
incomplete information which the
licensee does not identify as significant
normally will not constitute a separate
violation. However, the circumstances
surrounding the failure to correct may
be considered relevant to the
determination of enforcement action for

the initial inaccurate or incomplete

statement. For example, an
unintentionally inaccurato or
incomplete submission may be treated
as a more severe matter if the liconsce
later detormines that the initial
submittal was in error and does not
correct it or if there were clear
opportunities to identify the error. If
information not corrected was
recognized by a licensee as significant,
a separate cltation may be made for the

failure to provido significant
information. In any event, in serious
cases where the licensee’s actions in not
correcting or providing information
raise questions about its commitment to
safety or its fundamental
trustworthiness, the Commission may
exercise its authority to issue orders .
modifying, suspending, or revoking the
license, The Commissjon recognizes
that enforcement doterminations must
be made on a case-by:caso basis, takin
into consideration the issues describe

in this section. e -
X. Enforcement Action Against Non-
Licensees «

The Commission’s enforcoment policy
is also applicable to non-licensses, ‘
including employaes of licensees, to
contractors and subcontractors, and to
employees of contractors and
subcontractors, who knowingly provide
components, oquipment, or other goods.
or services that relate to a licensee’s
activities subject to NRC regulation. The
prohibitions and sanctions for any of
these persons who engage in deliberate
misconduct or submission of
incomplete or inaccurate information
are provided in the ruleon deliberate
misconduct, e.g., 10 CFR 30.10 and 50.5.

Vendors of products or services
provided for use in nuclear activities are
subject to certain requirements designed
to onsure that the products or services
supplied that could affect safety aro of
high quality. Through procurement
contracts with reactor Ecensees, vendors
may be required to have quality
assurance programs that mest applicable
requirements including 10 CFR Part 50,
Appendix B, and 10 CFR Part 71,
Subpart H. Vendors supplying products
or services to reactor, materials, and 10
CFR Part 71 licenseos aro subject to the
requirements of 10 CFR Part 21
rogarding reporting of defects in basic
components. :

When inspections determine that
violations of NRC requirements have
occurred, or that vendors have failed to
fulfill contractual commitments (e.g., 10
CFR Part 50, Appendix B) that could
adversely affect the quality of a safety
significant product or service,
enforcement action will botaken. _
Notices of Violation and civil penalties
will be used, as appropriate, for licensee
failures to ensure that their vendors
have programs that meet applicable
requirements. Noticos of Violation will
be issued for vendors that violate 10
CFR Part 21. Civil penalties will be
imposed against individual directors or
responsible officers of a vendor
organization who knowingly and
consciously fail to provide the notice
roquired by 10 CFR 21.21(b)(2). Notices
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wotld not.havs satisfied their intended

+ safety related purpose.

B. Severity Level II—Violations
involving for example;

1. A breskdown in the Quality
Assurance (QA) program as exemplified
by deficiencies in construction QA
related to more than one work activity
(e.g., structural, piping, electrical,
foundations), These deficiencies
normally involve the licensee’s failure
to conduct adequate audits or to take _
prompt corrective action on the basis of
such audits and normally involve
multiple examples of deficient
construction or construction of
unknown quality due to inadequate
program implementation; or

2. A structure or system that is
completed in such a manner that it

. could have an adverse effect on the

safety of oporations.

C. Soverity Level lil—Violations
involving for example: :

1. A deficiency in a licensee QA
program for construction related to &
single work activity (e.g., structural,
piping, eloctrical or foundations), This
significant deficiency normally involves
the licensee’s failure to conduct
adequate audits or to take prompt
corrective action on the basis of such
audits, and normally involves multiple
examples of deficient construction or
construction of unknown quality due to
inadequate program implementation;

2. A failure to confirm the design
safety requiremients of a structure or
system as a result of inadequate
preoperational test program

‘implementation; or

3, A failure to make a required 10 CFR
§0.55(e) report.

D. Severity Lovel IV—Violations
involving failure to meet regulatory
requirements including one or more
Quality Assurancs Criterion not
amounting to Severity Level [, II, or Il
violations that have more than minor
safety or environmental significance.

Supplement II[—Safeguards

This supploment provides examples
of violations in each of the four severity
levols as guidance in determining the
appropriate soverity level for violations
in tho arca of safeguards.

A, Soverity Level 1—Violations
involving for example:

1. An act of radiological sabotage in
which the security system did not
function as required and, as a result of
the failure, there was a significant event,
such as: :

(a) A Salety Limit, as defined in 10
CFR 50.36 and the Technical
Spacifications, was exceeded; .

(b) A system designed to ‘prevent or
mitigate a serious safety event was not

able to perform its intended safety
function when actually called' upon to
work; or . .o

{c) An accidental criticality occurred;

2. Tho thef, loss, or diversion of a
formula quantity !4 of special nuclear
material (SNM); or

3, Actual unauthorized production of
a formula quantity of SNM.

B. Severity Level Il—Violations
involving for example:

1. The entry of an unauthorized -
individual '* who reprosents a threat
into a vital area !.from outside the
protected ares; ' .

2. The theft, loss or diversion of SNM
of moderate strategic significance 7 in
which the security system did not
function as required; or- .

* 3. Actual unauthorized production of
SNM,

C. Severity Level llI—Violdtions
Involving for example: .

1. A failure or inability to control
access through established systems or
procodutes, such that an unauthorized
individual (Le., not authorized
unescorted access to protected area)
could easily gain undetected access !*
into a vital area from outside the
protected area; .

2. A fallure to conduct any search at
the access control point or conducting.
an inadequate search that resulted in the
introduction to the protected area of
firearms, explosives, or incendiary
devices and reasonable facsimiles
thereof that could significantly assist
radiological sabotage or theft of strategic
SNM; . Lo

3. A fatlure, degradation, or other
deficiency of the protected area
intrusion detection or alarm assessment
systems such that an unauthorized
individual who represents a threat
could predictably circumvent the
system or defeat & specific zone with a
high degree of confidence without
insider knowledge, or other significant
degradation of overall system capability;

4, A significant failure of the
safeguards systems designed or used to
prevent or detect the theft, loss, or
diversion of strategic SNM;

S..A failure to protect or control
classified or safeguards information

14 Soo 10 CFR 73.2 for tho definltion of “formula
quantity.” Coe

15 Tho ferm “unauthorized ladividual” as used
in this supplement means someone who was not
authorlzed for entrance Into tha area In question, or
not authorized to enter in the manner entered.

16 Tho phrase “vital area™ as used in this
supplement includes vital areas and matecial accoss
areas,

17 Seo 10 CFR 73.2 for the definition of “special
nuclear materlal of moderatoe strategle significance.”

% In detormining whother accass can be easily
gained, factors such as predictabllity, 1dentifiability,
and sase of passage should be considered.

considered to be significant while the
information is outside the protected area
and accessible to those not authorized
access to the protected area; .

6. A significant failure (o respond to
an event either in sufficient time to
provide protection to vital equipment or
strategic SNM, or with an adequate
response force;

7. A failure to perform an appropriate
evaluation or background investigation
so that information relevant te the
access determination wgs not obtained
or considered'and as a result a person,
who would likely not have heen granted
access by the licenseo, if the required
investigation or evaluation had been
performed, was granted access; or

8. A breakdown in the security
program involving a number of
violations that are related (or, if isolated,
that are recurring violations) that
collectively reflect a potentially
significarit lack of attention or
carelessness toward licensed
responsibilitios.

. Severity Lovel IV—Violations
involving for example:

1. A fallure or inability to coritrol
access such that an unauthorized
individual (i.e., suthorized to.protected
area’but not to vital area) could casily
gain undetected access into a vital area
from insido the protected area or into a
controlled accoss area;

2, A fellure to respond to a suspected
ovent in either a timely manner or with
an adequate response force;

3. A failure to implement 10 CFR
Parts 25 and 95 with respect to the
information addressed under Soction
142 of the Act, and the NRC approved
security plan relevant to those parts;

4. A fallure to make, maintain, or
provide log entries in accordance with
10 CFR 73.71 (c) and (d), where the

* omitted information (1) is not otherwise

available in easily retrievable records,
and (ii) significantly contributes to the
ability of either the NRC or the licensce
to identify a programmatic breakdown;,

5. A failure to conduct a proper search
at the access control point;

8. A failure to properly secure or
protect classified or safeguards
information inside the protected area
which could assist an individual in an
act of radiological sabotage or theft of
strategic SNM where the information
was not removed from the protected
aroa; .

7. A failure to control access such that
an opportunity exists that could allow
unauthorized and undetected access
into the protected area but which was
netther easily or likely to ba exploitable;

8. A failure to conduct an adequate
soarch at the exit from a material access
area;
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in the area of NRC transportation |
requirements 20, : (

A. Soverity Lovel I—Violations .,
involving for example:

1. Failure to meet transportation
requirements that resulted in loss of
control of radioactive material with a
breach in package integrity such that the
material caused a radiation exposure to
a membér of the public and there was
clear potential for the public to receive
more than .1 rem to the whole body;

2. Surface contamination in excess of
50 times the NRC limit; or

3. External radiation levels in excess
of 10 times the NRC limit.

B. Severity Level ll—Violations
involving for example:

1, Faflure to meot transportation
requirements that resulted in loss of
control of radioactive material with a
breach in package integrity such that
there was a cloar potential for the
member of the public to recelve more
than .1 rem to the whole body;

2. Surface contamination in excess of
l10, but not more than 50 times the NRC

imit;

3. External radiation levels jn excess
of five, but not more than 10 times the
NRC limit; or

4. A failure to make required initial
notifications associated with Severity
Lovel I or Il violations.

C. Severity Level Ill—Violations
involving for examplo:

1. Surface contamination in excess of
five but not more than 10 times the NRC
limit;

2. External radiation in oxcess of one

‘but not more than five times tho NRC

limit;
3. Any noncompliance with labeling,
Flacarding. shipping paper, packaging,
oading, or other requirements that
could reasonably rosult in the following:

(a) A significant failure to identify the
type, quantity, or form of material;

} A failure of the carrier or recipient

to exerciso adequate controls; or

{c) A-substantial potential for cither
personnel exposure or contamination
above regulatory limits or improper
transfer of material;

‘4. A failure to'make required initial
notification associated with Severity
Lovel III violations; or

5. A breakdown in the licensee's
rrogrgm for the transportation of
icensod material involving a number'of
violations that are related (or, if isolated,
that are recurring violations) that

2Some transportation requirements are applicd
10 more than one licenseo involved in the same
actlvity such as a shipper and a carrier. When a
violation of such a requirement occurs, enforcement
action will be dlirected against the responsible
licenses which, under the circumstances of the
case, may bo one or more of the licensees involved.

collectively refiect a potontially
significant lack of attention or
carelessness toward liconsed

responsibilities: o
D. Severity Level IV—Violations
involving for example:

1. A breach of package integrity
without external radiation levels
exceeding the NRC limit or without
contamination lovels'exceeding five
times the NRC limits; -

2. Surface contamination in excess of

, but not more than five times the NRC

limit;

3. A failure to register as an
authorized user of an NRC-Certified
Transport package; ~

‘4. A noncompliance with shipping
papers, marking, labeling, placarding,
packaging or loading not amounting to
a Sevority Level 1, II, or Il violation; |

5. A fallure to demonstrate that
packages for special form radioactive
matorial meets applicable regulatory
requirements;

6. A failure to demonstrate that
packages meet DOT Specifications for
7A Type A packages; or

7. Other violations that have more
than minor safety or environmental
significance. :

Supplement VI—Fuel Cycle and
Materials Operations

This supplement provides examples
of violations in each of the four severity
levels as guidance in determining the
appropriate severity level for violations
in the grea of fuel cycle and materials
operations.

A. Severity Level I—Violations
involving for example:

1:Radiation.levels, contamination
levels, or releases that exceed 10 times
the limits specified in the license;

2. A systom designed to prevent or
mitigate a sorious safety ovent not being
operable when actually required to
perform its design function;

3. A nuclear criticality accident; or

4. A failure to follow the procedures
of the quality management program,
reguired by Soction 35.32, that results in
a death or serious injury (e.g.,
substantial organ impairment) to a
patient.

B, Severity Level I[—Violations
involving for example:

1. Radiation levels, contamination
levels, or releases that exceed five times
the limits specified in the license;

2, A system designed to prevent or
mitigate a serious safety event being
inoperable; or

3. A substantial programmatic foilure
in the implementation of the quality
management program required by 10
CFR 35.32 that results ina
misadministration. A

C. Severity Level IlI—Violations
involving for example:

1. A fallure to control access to
licensed materials for radiation
purposes as specified by NRC
requirements; v .

2. Possossion or use of unauthorized
equipment or materials in the conduct
of licenses activities which degrades
safety; * - .

. 3. Use of radioactive material on
humans where such use is not
authorized; ’

4. Conduct of liconsed activities by.a -
technically unqualified porson;

5. Radiation levels, contamination
lovels, or releases that exceed the limits
spoclfied in the liconse; ’

6. Substantial faflure to implement
the quality management program as
roquired by Section 35.32 that.does not

- result in a misadministration; failure to

roport a misadministration; or
programmatic weakness in the
implomentation of the quality = °
managemont program that resultsin a
misadministration.

7. A breakdown in the control of
liconsed activities involving a number
of violations that are related (or, if
isolated; that are recurring violations)
that collectively represent a potentially
significant lack of attention or
carelessnoss toward licensed
responsibilities;

8. A fatlure, during radiographic
operations, to have present or to use
radiographic equipment, radiation.
survey instruments, and/or personnel
monitoring devices as required by 10
CFR Part 34;

9. A failure to submit an NRC Form
241 in accordance with the
requirements in Section 150.20 of 10
CFR Part 150; . .t

10, A failure to receive required NRC
apiroval prior to the implementation of
a change in liconsed activities that has
radiological or programmatic
significance, such as, a change in
ownership; lack of an RSO or
replacement of an RSO with an
unqualified individual; a change-in the
location where licensed activities are
being conducted, or where liconsed
matorial is being stored whére the new
facilitios do not meet safety guidelines;
or a change in the quantity or typo of
radioactive material being processed or
used that has radiological'significance:
or

11. A significant failure to meet
decommissioning requirements
including a failure to notify the NRC as
roquired%)y regulation or license
condition, substantial failure to meet
decommissioning standards, failure to
conduct and/or complete -
decommissioning activities in
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meeting the objectives of 10 CFR 26.10;
or ,
10. Threats of discrimination or
restrictive agreements which are
violations under NRC regulations such
as 10 CFR 50.7(f).

D. Severity Level IV—Violations
involving for example:

1. Incomplete or inaccurate
information of more than minor
significanco that is provided to the NRC
but not amounting to a Severity Level 1,
11, or 111 violation;

2. Information that the NRC requires
be kept by a licensce and that is
incomplete or inaccurate and of more
than minor significance but not
amounting to a Severity Level ], If, or Ill
violation;

3. An inadequate review or failure to
review under 10 CFR Part 21 o other
procedural violations associated with 10
CFR Part 21 with more than minor
safety significance;

4. Violations of the requirements of
Part 26 of more than minor significanco;
5. A failure to report acts of licensed
operators or supervisors pursuant to 10

CFR 26.73; or

6. Discrimination cases which, in
themselves, do not warrant a Severity
Level IIf categorization. :

Supplement VIII—Emergency
Preparedness

* This supploement provides examples
of violations in each of the four soverity
levels as guldance in determining the
appropriate severity level for violations

in the area of emergency preparedness.
It should be noted that citations are not
normally made for violations involving
emergency preparedness occurring
during emergency exercises. Howover,
where exercises reveal ({) training,
procedural, or repetitive failures for
which corrective actions have not been
taken, (ii) an overall concern regarding
the licensee's ability to imploment its
plan in a manner that edequately
protects public health and safety, or (iii)
poor self eritiques of the licensee’s
oxercises, enforcement action may be
appropriate. . .

A. Severity Level I—Violations
involving for example: .

In a general emergency, licenseo
failure to promptly (1) correctly classify
the event, (2) make required
notifications to responsible Federal
State, and'local agencies, or (3) respond
to tho ovent (e.g., assess actual or
potential offsite consequences, activate
emergency response facilities, and .
augment shift staff). )

B. Soverity Level II—Violations -
involving for examplo:

1. In a site emergency, licensoe failure
to promptly (1) correctly classify.the"
event, (2) make required notifications to
responsible Fedoral, State, and local
agencles, or (3) respond to the ovent
(e.g., assess actual or potential offsite
consequences, activate emergency .
response facilitios, and augment shift
staff); or

2, A licensee failure to meet or
implement one emergency planning

standard involving assessment or-
notification, i

C. Severlty Level Ill—Violations
involving for example:

1. In an alert, licensee failure to

romptly (1) correctly classify the event,
2) make required notifications to
responsible Federal, State, and local
agencies, or (3) respond.to the event
(e.g., assess actual or potential offsite
consequences, activato emergency
res ‘;mse fecilities, and augment shift
staff); . Fas

2, A licensee failure to meet or
implement more than one emergency
planning standard involving assessment
or notification; or ..

3, A breakdown in the control of
licensed activities involving a number
of violations that are related (or, if
isolated, that are recurring violations)
that collectively represent a potentially
significant lack of attention or
carelessness toward liconsed
responsibilities.

D. Severity Level IV—Violations
involving for example:

A licensea failure to mest or
implement any emergency planning
standard or requiremont not directly
related to assessment and notification

Dated at Rockville, Maryland, this 23rd day
of Juno 1995,

For the Nuclear Regulatory Commission.

. John C. Hoyle,

Secretory of the Commission.
{FR Doc. 95-15952 Filed 6-29-95; 8:45 am)
BILLING CODE 7590-01-P
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